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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 

Hilton is an early 20th century, Georgian-revival mansion farmhouse. The 
re-construction was designed by Baltimore architect Edward Palmer in 1917; detailed 
drawings and specifications are preserved in Palmer's successor's office, Nes, Campbell 
and Partners, and copies are preserved in the Catonsville Community College archives. 

The entrance facade is the north; the south facade overlooks a broad view across 
the Patapsco River valley. The main house is five bays in length, 2~ stories above a 
high ground floor, with a gambrel roof. A closely spaced pair of chimneys rises flush 
above each gable. A shallower 2~-story wing, five bays in length, with a gabled roof, 
extends from the east end; a 2-story west wing is but one bay in length. The walls of 
the main house -- the walls of the original structure -- are of rubble stone covered 
with stucco. Roofs are covered with green Vennont slate. 

A small enclosed porch of the Tuscan order centered on the north facade shelters 
the principal entrance in the ground story; originally fully glazed, it was probably 
considered a porte cochere. Above the porch in the second story, continuing the axial 
emphasis, is a tri-partite window; and above it in the third story is a wider donner 
containing a Palladian or Venetian window. Tall casements or French doors are in each 
bay of the first story; above are 6/6 windows, below are 3/3 windows; a single dormer is 
centered between the two outer bays of each side, containing a 6/6 window. 

The fully developed cornice has both dentils and modillions and a concealed gutter 
above it. The first story windows are framed with wooden architraves supporting a 
frieze and cornice. On the dormer walls Tuscan pilasters flank the sash and support 
a plain frieze and full pediment. Cheek walls are slated. 

The south facade is nearly identical, but a terrace at the first floor level extends 
its full length, enclosed below in the ground story with stuccoed walls, pierced by low 
arched windows at grade level. The small Tuscan porch is unenclosed and shelters a wide, 

elliptically arched entrance to the first floor consisting of a six-panel door, leaded 
sidelights and a leaded transom. Continuing the axial emphasis as on the north facade, 
this is a tri-partite window in the second story and a tri-partite dormer in the third, 
consisting of a slightly projecting 6/6 window flanked by single four-light casements; 
above the central window is a solid-arched fan-louvre rising in the pediment. The 
pediment and the flat frieze extending above the flanking casements are supported by 
pairs of Tuscan pilasters. 

The south cornice and other elements of trim are identical to their counterparts 
in the north facade. 

The north and south facades of the east wing are virtually identical to each other. 
The length of the east wing is expressed as five bays in the second story but openings 
of the ground and first sto~es are only in the middle and end bays; three dormers are in 
the attic story. The first story openings are like their counterparts in the main house 
(French doors), 6/6 windows are in the second story, and the donners are identical 
to those of the main house. The south terrace extends across most of that facade of the 
east wing, and the French doors of the north facade are screened by iron railings. The 
cornice, simpler than that on the main house, has dentils but no modillions. 

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET #1. 
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The north and south facades of the west wing are virtually identical: a tall, 
tripartite window extending to the first floor flanked by wooden Tuscan pilasters 
supporting a full flat entablature, and a 6/6 window in the second story extending 
slightly above the cornice in a semi-dormer with a pedimented roof not unlike typical 
dormers elsewhere on the house. 

The floor structures within are of reinforced concrete and the partitions are 
bearing walls of brick, all dating from the 1917-1918 re-construction. All finished 
elements date from that period and virtually all elements are in place and in good 
condition. Nothing was saved from the original house. 

Jn plan, a wide central hall extends through the house in the central bay of 
each story and, basically, a pair of rooms is on either side. The westerly pair, in 
the ground and first story, are treated as single spaces; a side hall leads to the east 
wing between the easterly pair in all stories. 

In the ground story, the hall floor is paved in black and white marble laid 
checker-board fashion, with a black marble base. Walls are paneled with tall, narrow 
flat panels with plain stiles and rails, all of painted wood. The moulded plaster 
cornice includes dentils, a soffit with a fret and a crown moulding, all moulded with 
simulated carving--egg-and-dart in the bed moulding, acanthus foliage in the crown. An 
open stair rises against the east wall, toward the north; its moulded mahogany rail is 
supported by slim, Tuscan column newels and slim, turned balusters; step-ends are 
embellished with scrolls of simulated carving. The original doors have been replaced 
with flush mahogany fire-rated doors. 

The westerly rooms were joined by a wide opening trimmed with Tuscan pilasters; 
now reduced by a modern partition with a door of standard width, the original trim 
remains. The southerly window jambs extend to the floor while the northerly ones 
extend only to the sills. The south windows, now void of sash, look into the space 
beneath the south terrace. The northwest room has a wooden floor laid in a herring-
bone pattern and the southwest room has a concrete floor; all are covered with resilient 
tile. The plaster walls have applied plaster mouldings with simulated carving, describ­
ing panels the full height of the wall. Above is a cornice, similar to that in the hall, 
but the soffit exists only in the order above the wide opening, embellished with a fret. 
The fireplaces in both sections of the double space have firebox surrounds and hearth 
of buff marble with dark red veining; the inner edge, adjacent to the firebox, is 
moulded with an ovolo profile. The mantels are similar but not identical, both richly 
embellished in a late 18th century Georgian or Adamesque mode. The south mantel 
has a bolection surround supporting a fluted frieze with a central panel containing 
an anthemion and bell-flower motif in bas-relief. The north mantel has a two-plane 

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET #2. 
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architrave surround with carved backband, flanked by paneled pilasters supporting 
carved consoles, in turn supporting a carved shelf; in the carved, stop-fluted frieze 
is a center panel containing an Adamesque urn and swags in bas-relief. 

The southeast room has no fireplace. The walls are laid out in panels like the 
westerly rooms, and the plaster cornice is identical. The original wooden floor 
remains exposed, of quarter-sawn white oak in a herringbone pattern with a border of 
alternating white oak and mahogany parallel to the walls. Surrounding the double 
doors opening to the center hall and to the side hall is an architrave supporting a 
cornice. 

The northeast room is identical to the southeast but it has a fireplace with 
cream marble surround and hearth. The mantel consists of paneled pilasters with 
applied rosettes and bell-flowers, a frieze with anthemion and bell-flowers in bas-relief, 
and with paneled end and center blocks with urns in bas-relief; the shaped shelf is 
edged with carved crown moulding. 

In the west wing is a small piain room and a modern bathroom. 

In the east wing are two modern toilet rooms next to the main house. Beyond were 
the kitchens, now a large plain room, and in the northeast corner is another smaller 
plain room formerly with a dumb waiter. In the southeast corner of the east wing is a 
back stair extending to the third floor; its moulded birch rail is supported by plain 
square balusters. 

The center hall of the first or principal story has a floor of black and white 
rr.~rtle squares, checkerboard fashion, with a black marble base. The walls are paneled 
with painted wood, like those below, with flat panels and plain stiles and rails. Small 
square panels are immediately below the cornice and tall panels of matching width extend 
to the marble base. The plaster cornice has a fret soffit and all mouldings have 
simulated or moulded carvings. The south door with its semi-eTiiptical leaded transom 
and leaded sidelights opens to the south porch as described above; beneath the stair 
landing the north door, with similar sidelights, opens to the small enclosed porch 
above the ground story entrance. A wide opening centered in the west partition of the 
hall gives access to the large single space west of the hall. That opening is flanked 
with fluted wooden Tuscan pilasters and columns with carved capitals and rosettes 
in the necking. 

The principal stair rises clear to the third floor with intermediate landings 
against the north wall. The moulded mahogany handrail is supported by Tuscan column 
newels of mahogany and painted, turned balusters. The step-ends are scrolled and 
carved. Wall paneling extends up and around the landing between the first and second 
floors, terminated by the paneled pilaster which visually supports the beam at the south 
SEE CONTINUATION SHEET #3. 
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The floor of the large west room (called the Living Room in the original drawings) 
is of quarter-sawn white oak, laid in a herringbone pattern, with a border of white 
oak and mahogany elements parallel to the walls. Above and below the fluted chair 
rail the plastered walls are divided into large panels by applied plaster mouldings, 
moulded to simulate carving. The richly moulded cornice is similar to its counterpart in 
the central hall. The two fireplaces are identical, with white marble hearths and 
surrounds edged with an ovolo moulding adjacent to the firebox. The identical mantels 
have engaged (three-quarter) fluted columns of the Composite order, a frieze richly 
embellished with shallow octagonal panels and foliated simulated carvings, boldly 
projecting end blocks with urns in bas-relief and a central panel with swags, rosettes 
and a wreath. The shelf is edged with a carved crown moulding. 

The two easterly rooms are nearly identical to each other. Double doors formerly 
opened from the central hall to the southeast room, and double sliding doors, each of 
mahogany with six panels, open from each room to the side hall between them. The 
herringbone floors, the walls and the cornices are like those elements of the large 
Living Room to the west. Fireplaces are similar but not identical. Both have white 
marble surrounds and hearths. In the southeast room (called the Drawing Room in the 
original drawings) the mantel has paneled pilasters with applied Adamesque ornamentation 
of intersecting garlands rising from urns at the bottom. Applied urns are in the end 
and center blocks of the frieze, itself embellised with intersecting garlands surround­
ing rosettes. A cast bronze and crystal electric chandelier is probably original. The 
mantel of the northeast room (called the Den in the original drawings) has pilasters 
with an overall floriated Adamesque ornamentation, a frieze with a series of swags in 
bas-relief and flush end blocks with urns. 

The side hall between the two easterly rooms has a black and white marble 
floor like that of the center hall. It leads to the Dining Room (as it was called in 
the original drawings), the principal room of the east wing. Story heights in the 
east wing are identical to those of the main house, allowing the Dining Room sufficient 
height to make it equal in importance to any room in the main house. Indeed the 
architectural embellishment of the Dining Room makes it perhaps the most important 
room of the house. 

The Dining Room floor is of quarter-sawn white oak, laid in a herringbone pattern, 
with a border of white oak and mahogany parallel to the walls. The walls are fully 
paneled of mahogany in small square flat panels with plain stiles and rails. Fluted 
mahogany Tuscan pilasters are at each corner and flanking each of the two tall, glazed 
(with French doors) openings in the north and south walls, the wide doorway centered 
in the west wall (leading in from the side hall) and the projecting chimney breast 

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET #4. 
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centered in the east end. Intersecting mahogany beams, embellished with architrave, 
frieze and bed-moulding span in each direction from the pilasters; the large areas thus 
formed in the ceiling are subdivided into multiple smaller areas or coffers by inter­
secting runs of the fretted soffit of this order, the fascia and the carved crown mould­
ings. The small ceiling panels of the coffers are flat, all of mahogany. The fire-
box surround is of limestone, a Tudor or four-centered arch with carved spandrels; an 
outer lining, also of limestone, enframes the lining with a moulded edge. The mahogany 
mantel consists of pairs of fluted Composite columns supporting a frieze embellished 
with carved roundels; end blocks are embellished with carved linenfold motif set in a 
panel. Above the dentiled and carved bed-moulding is a shelf edged with a carved 
crown moulding. Paneled doors, matching the wall paneling, flank the chimney breast 
and they open into the former serving pantry in the northeast corner of the wing and 
into the secondary stair hall in the southeast corner. 

The former serving pantry, a plain room, is now fitted as a small modern kitchen. 

The west wing was called the Sun Parlor in the original drawings and all three 
exterior walls are fully glazed with original materials, mullions defining a tripartite 
arrangement. 

The second floor plan is similar to the first, except that the space west of the 
central hall is divided into two bedrooms (all called Chambers in the original 
drawings). Closets to serve each room separate the two westerly chambers and a short 
passage with arched sliding doors allows conmunication between them. Above the side 
hall east of the central hall is a similar narrow hall leading to the east wing; 
originally closets for each of the two easterly chambers occupied that space, a fact 
documented by the original drawings and by examination of the doors and the floor. 

The central hall and all of the chambers are embellished like the easterly rooms 
below: oak floors in a herringbone pattern, plastered walls with applied plaster 
mouldings, and plaster cornices, moulded as carvings. Each fireplace has a marble 
surround and hearth and a late Georgian or Adamesque type mantel, each different, 
embellished but simpler than those below. Doors to the central hall have been replaced 
with flush mahogany fire-rated doors, but the original mahogany-stained birch six-panel 
doors remain elsewhere. 

The west wing is divided into two bathrooms, serving the two westerly bedrooms 
or Chambers. The tiled floors have been removed recently for repairs to the plumbing 
but the original glazed tile walls large lavatories supported on fluted pedestals 
remain. Portions of the wall finishes adjacent to the main house are now removed for 
the repairs, exposing the original exterior wall of the early 19th century house. 
The wall is constructed of rubble stone, covered with stucco and finished with paint. 
The original color appears to be a rich dark pink and the latest coat of paint is brown, 
SEE CONTINUATION SHEET #5. 
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perhaps to simulate brownstone. The pre-1917 photographs, assembled and preserved in 
the College archives, indicate the darker color in a peeling condition. 

Next to the main house, in the east wing, are two original bathrooms to serve 
the two easterly Chambers, each retaining its tiled floor, glazed tiled walls and oval 
lavatory supported by a fluted pedestal. East of the bathrooms are several small, plain 
servants' rooms on either side of a narrow corridor running the length of the wing. 
These rooms retain their simple trim, six-paneled birch doors and hardware. The 
original drawings indicate an earlier scheme of playrooms with servants' rooms in 
another structure inmediately east of the wino. This scheme is marked 11 void 11 in 
lettering contemporary with the drawings (1917). 

The principal stair extends to the third floor, r1s1ng within the enlarged central 
dormer described above. The third floor plan is similar to those below, a central hall 
with two rooms on either side, but at its south end are two oriqinal bathrooms, retain­
ing original finishes and fixtures similar to those below. The-oak herringbone floors 
extend throughout the third story but the plastered walls are plain and there are no 
fireplaces. 

More small rooms are in the finished third story of the east wing, lighted by 
dormers, and the secondary stair also extends to the third floor. The west wing has 
an unfinished attic where all visible construction dates from the 1917 period. 

A large unfinished attic extends above the main house, accessible from a ladder 
off the northwest room. All visible construction dates from the 1917 period. 

A toiler room is in a sub-basement beneath the northwest room, its walls 
constructed of stone. The reinforced concrete ground floor is visible above. Utility 
tunnels extend beneath the perimeter of the ground floor, accessible from the boiler 
room and from hatch doors in the northeast and southeast corners of the ground story. 

The Early Nineteenth Century House 

The early nineteenth century house is documented by several excellent photographs 
in the College archives, and by an inventory of 1853 discussed by Bayly Ellen Marks in 
her Hilton Heritage (Catonsville Community College Press, June 1972, 22ff). Prior to 
1917, Hilton was a very simple stuccoed house of 2~ storiesabove a high basement, the 
south front expressed as five bays in length, the north front as three. The north 
entrance was sheltered by a small one-story portico and a one-story, hipped-roof porch 
extended across the south front and west end. The south entrance had a pair of doors, 
each with three small rectangular panels above the lock rail, a single taller panel 
below. Sidelights extended to the head of the opening and a three-light transom extended 
between them above the doors. The head of this opening was flat, not arched. All 

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET #6. 
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windows were 6/6 with louvred blinds. Three dormers were in the southerly roof slope 
but none were in the northerly. The broad flush end chimneys were actually pairs of 
very closely spaced chimneys of three arch-topped flues each, linked and made flush by 
a wall at their outer faces, backing a small pent for roof access. The service wing 
was to the east but it projected northwards from the main house, the peak of its roof 
being approximately aligned with the northeast corner of the main house. The wing was 
two storys in height above a high basement and it was three bays in length. Its 
windows were also 6/6 with louvred blinds and a chimney rose from its extreme east end. 

Its plan, as described in the publication cited above, was similar to the existing 
plan: a central hall with two rooms on either side. That was a very typical plan for 
the period, the expected plan for a house of this breadth and depth. 

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION 

The boundaries of this nomination were drawn to maintain a 
setting for the house (the lawn areas to the east, south, and west) 
but to exclude obvious non-contributing buildings and areas (a new 
building to the northwest of the house and the large parking lot to 
the northeast) while utilizing such lines of convenience as the driveway 
around the east, south, and west edges. 
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H1 I ton is an elegant, early :Jth century Georgian-revival mansion built within the 
walls of a large, plain, early 19tr century farmhouse. It is prominent today as the 
~ell-preserved, tastefully-adapted ?nd much-used focal point of a modern, thriving, 
suburban college campus. It was cc~structed of the best available materials, all specif­
ied in detail (its ori9inal constr~:tion documents, specifications, working drawings and 
details, are preserved) and identi::able today. It was embellished throughout with 
highly ornamented mantels, cornices, paneling, stair elements, floors selected from 
catalogues of the period and assem:~ed in accordance with prevailing taste. Changes 
since 1917 have been few and they c~e superficial. The house remains a three-dimensional 
text of early 20th century taste. 

HISTORY 
Biographical sketch of the 2~chitect Edward Palmer: In 1917 George Worth Knapp 

hired Baltimore architect Edward L~.·ingstone Palmer, Jr. (1877-1952) to completely 
renovate the Mansion at Hilton and ~ts dependencies. Palmer, who graduated from Johns 
Hopkins in 1899, had recently left :he employ of the Roland Park Company, where since 
1907 he had been a member of the Cc-mittee on Approval of Plans. In this capacity he had 
emphasized competent landscape deveiopment. In 1948 he was described by the American 
Institute of Architects as a 11 pione-2r in site planning, he set a standard for controlled 
development in suburban residential areas which has become universal today, 11 and was made 
a Fellow of the Institute. 

When he undertook the Hiltor cofl111ission, Palmer had earned a reputation not only 
for landscape and site planning in Roland Park, Guilford and Homeland, but also for 
designing several hundred residences in Roland Park. He was 11 an enthusiastic supporter of 
the traditional Maryland style, 11 bi.:t was by no means limited in his stylistic approach. 
At Hilton he completely redesigned the mansion house from the ground up. He was· also 
responsible for the renovation of the two cottages and bowling alley which stand on 
the east side of the Arch wall. Here he took the rustic stone buildings of the late 
1840's and renewed them using a Tucor motif. All the surviving buildings at Hilton, 
mansion, cottages, bowling alley, ~'cCulloh house, stable, and barn, bear the mark of 
Palmer's 11 high conception of architectural taste," as well as of his versatility. 

Palmer enjoyed a long and distinguished career, designing many major buildings, 
including Levering and Mergenthaler Halls at Johns Hopkins, City Hospitals, and the 
Sunpapers Building. When he died in 1952 the Sun wrote, uror more than a half century, 
Mr. Palmer, his vision and his dra1dng board, contributed many architectural landmarks to 
Baltimore and the surrounding counties." 

-----·-· -------------------------------------------
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[J DESCRIPTION 

CONDITiON CHECK ONE CHECK ONE 

X.EXCELLENT _DETERIORATED _UNALTERED XORIGINAL SITE 

_(;QQO X.RUINS (Bowling alley ,~LTERED _MOVED OAT£ __ _ 

_ FAIR _UNEXPOSED one house) 

DESCRIBE THE PRESENT ANO ORIGINAL (iF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 

1. Mansion. The 1828-35 Georgian dwelling put up by Dr. Lennox llirck­
nead was much enlarged in 1917 by Bal ti1norc architect Edward ;l.;tln,er 
for owner George W. Knapp. The house consists of a central b~ock 
with two wings of different heights and lengths. The central block 
is 2-1/2 stories, placed upon a full, exposed basement. This block 
is 30 X 45 feet, five bays wide, with tl1rce dormer windows - the 
center dormer containing three sash windows. This block has a gam­
brel roof and double, inside end-chinmeys. The main, or souci1, 
facade has a dcntilcd box cornice. There is a center entrance porch 
with an uncovered second-story deck. The porch is supported ""t the 
front corners by doric columns. '£he main entrance door is flanked 
by pilasters and by sidelight~ and topped with an elliptical fan 
light. 

The first story is supplied with mullion windows topped by tran­
soms (in four of its bays); cornices surmount the transoms. Second 
story windows are 6-on~6 sash windows. Except for the center bay, 
all windows in the main block have louvered shutters, painted black. 

The rear, or north, facade is fully developed, similar in its 
fenestration to the front; however, the rear entrance porch has been 
converted into a room. 

The east wing is 2-1/2 stories high, five bays wide, set back 
from the main block. The west wing is two stories high, one bay wide, 
although the first story window is a three-part mullion window. The 
mansion is connected to a new college building on the west by a black 
glass tunnel built at the same height as the exposed basement wall. 
'rl1e house is design.ad in a plain sty le with few decorations, its flat 
surfaces coated with smooth. stucco and painted a brilliant white. 

2. Tudor House. One of the.square stone cottages of 1852 was enlarged 
about 1918-19 into a 2-story cottage, half-timbered in 'l'udor motif, 
with di amend-paned \lindows and wood and plaster n1ouldings. Tllc houf.:>n 
WdS also given a sl.i.m ch.inmey that stands clear of the walls and roof 
of the second story. 

2a. Ruined House. Another ~tone cottage of 1852 was also raised -co two 
stories and 'r°udorized about 1918-19 but has since become a roofless 
ruin. 

3. Bowling Alley. The 1852 bowling alley was 100 feet long by 10 feet 
wide, but is todily also roof less and ruined. •r,he bowling alley wall 
continued another 120 feet as a garden wall and terminated in a stone 
arch which still stands. · 

4. Gardener's Cottage. This small building was 29 feet square 011 the 

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY 
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1918 tax list and at that time it escaped Tudorizing because it belonged to 
the Ranson estate. It is built of stone, in random ashlar, with quoined 
corners, one story high. The hip roof has a plain box cornice and wooder1 
lentils. There is a small, uncovered porch or stoop leading to a center 
door on the east facade, which is three bays wide. A small wing, one bay 
wide, is attached on the north. The chimney is inside, centrally located 
in the south facade. 
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The present campus of Catonsville Conmmnity College stands on a tract 
surveyed under the name of Taylor's Forest in 1678, and the college hc:i.s 
been built within a milieu of existing 19th and 20th Century buildings of 
the Hilton estate that preceded public use of the property •. The large 
stone farniliouse was by all indications built between 1818 und 1825 by 
James w. Mcculloh (1788-1861), and its owner was cashier of the Baltimore 
Branch of the Bank of the United States. 

McCulloh's name became enshrined in judicial history when, as liti­
gant for the bank, he figured in the lanilmark decision of McCulloh-vs·­
Marvland (1819). McCulloh's other banking activities got him twice fn­
ch.cteJ {or conspiracy (because Maryland :1ackGd a law against embezzlen.~nt) 
but was both ti111es acquitted. His unsuc~essful speculations forced hir:, to 
sell his 511-acre stock and dairy farm in 1825 and the estate was purchaEc< 
by John Lewis Buchanan in 1825 and two l'ears later passed to Dr. Lennox 
Birckhead. 

Dr. Birckhead built a Georgian fieldstone house with stucco coating­
sornetime between 1828 and 1835 - placing it on a hill that provided a view 
of Baltimore Town and the State House dome in Annapolis; the lofty sei:ting 
gave rise to a new name for the property - Hilton. The B.i.rckhead house, 
much embellished in the 20th Century, endures to the present. During tiie 
ownership of Dr. Birckhead, and also under the tenancy of Samuel Smith 
Buchanan, Hilton was farmed ~ith the bes~ soil restoration techniques then 
known, and productivity rose to a higher level than it had been in Mccul­
loh' s day; when William Carson Glenn Lough t the property in 18 3 7, -it was 
his intention to establish a prime horse farm, to be known as Glen Alr:'cn. 

However, William Carson Glenn sold to his brother Jolin in 1842, plac­
ing the estate in the hands of a prominent Baltimore attorney who was a 
power in the Whig "Court House Clique" that practically controlled Balti­
more politics. Glenn was a leader in the fight against the Jacksonian~ 
and one of the controlling stockholders of the Bank of Maryland; .,.;hen that 
ins ti tu tion failed, a mob gathered and looted ti1e GJenn townhouse and drunk 
its wine cellar. Glenn was also owner of Curtis Creek Furnace north of 
present Glen Burnie. Colonel Robert E. Lee visited Hilton a number of 
times while he was supervising the construction of Fort Carroll, c. 1848-
52. 

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY 
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Glenn was appointed to a Federal Judgeship by President Filmore in 1852. 
Judge Glenn W(;}S also interested in ro.cing and was a member of the Maryland 
Association for the Improvement of Horses and in 1830 had served as steward 

f the Central Race Course, and purchased large contiguous tracts to expand 
.. Ls horse farm. He ~lso added an upper story to the kitchen wing and about 
1852 built three square stone houses with hipped roofs: the present "Tudor" 
house, gardener's cottage, and "ruined house," plus a 100-foot-long bowling 
alley. Only a year after putting up these improvements, the Judge died and 
was buried under the large Celtic cross marked GLE:~N at St. Timothy's, Catons­
ville. 

Hilton passed to Mrs. Henrietta Glenn. \vill iam Wilkins Glann took over 
management of the estate and continued to work the farm with 26 slaves and 
some modern farm machinery, including a Hussey l~eaper, a 6 hp thresher, and 
a thresher-straw cutter. Dairy products were the mainstay of the estate, but 
the farm sold hams, apples, peaches, cordwood, and greenhouse vegetables, 
root crops, potatoes, and sugar beets. In 1855, John Glenn II sponsored a 
public trial of competing brands of reapers: the Atkins-Self-Raker, McCormick, 
and the Hussey - all three varieties were pronounced "most satisfactory," but 
tile Atkins was the best; however, the wide carriages of the Atkins and McCor­
mick models necessitated removal of the farm gates. 

William Wilkins Glenn was also publisher of the Baltimore Daily ~xchanac 
and during the early part of the Civil War was arrested for his pro-Southern 
sentiments; on his release, he used Hilton as a refuge for persons heading 
South by an "underground railway in reverse." Glenn's guests incluued a num­
ber of British war correspondents and at least two members of Parliament. In 
July, 1863, on the verge of another arrest, Glenn escaped - by crawling be-

....:.-ween two sentries - from Union troops surrounding the house and made his way 
J Canada and to Eng~and. After the War, he participated in the legal defense 

of Jefferson Davis. Glenn died in 1876, and Hilton began to decline, eventu­
ally operating at a loss. Finally in 1905, it was advertised in Country Life· 
in America but not disposed of. The next year the heirs divided Hilton into 
25 lots. 

Lot No. 5, the main house with its cottages and barns, was allotted to 
John Mark Glenn. That tract was purchased in 1917 by George Worth Knapp 
(1847-1935), director general of the National Enameling and Stamping Company. 

Knapp was already socially prominent in Catonsville, and a charter member of 
the Merchants Club. Knapp went about buying back former parcels of the Hilto:i 
tract and engaged Baltimore architect Bdward Palmer to rebuild the main blocl~ 
of Dr. Lennox Birckhead's llilton into the massive and magnificent white struc­
ture that now houses the college administration. •rhe stone residences were 
repaired, the bowling alley renovated, and the adjoining stone cottages of 
1852 were enlarged into two-story structures in Tudor motif. The IIilton farm 
was one of the most modern dairy enterprises in the Baltimore area, a pioneer 
in employing electrical machinery; there was a retail outlet on the premises. 

Later the farm and dairy was carried on by the brothers Alfred M. and 
William G. Knapp, but in 1956, the estate was again for sale by executors, and 
in 1963, a purchaser was found for the main 105 acres: the Baltimore County 
Board of Educution. The grounds were developed into a conununity college under 
a master plan that placed new structures among the houses, barns, and stone 
·alls surviving from Hilton's agricultural career. 

In brief, the campus includes structures of excellent design and construc­
tion, with historic associations ranging from the Madisonian and Jacksonian 
eras througl1 the Civil War, and agricultural associations ranging from the l~nd 
restoration movement of the early 19th Century down into tht! age of electrifica­
tion in the present century. 
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CONDITION 
( Cited One) 

Excell•t 0 Good 0 Folr 0 O.tert-lff 0 Ruin• 0 Unoxpo-4 O 
(Checlr On•} ( Choclr One) 

INTEGRITY 
Alterocl 0 Unolterocl 0 Mo¥ocl 0 Otttlnol Sito O 

Dllactu•• THE Pttll•llNT AND DttlOINAL (II~ PHY•ICAL APPllARANCll 

I, MANSION HOUSE. Condition: exce11ent Integrity: altered 

4 story Georgian residence , built c. 1830? Stuccoed stone with interior 
brick walls , 51 x 44 • Center ha11. Slate gable roof with dormers and doub e 
chimneys . 
Altered by raising roof and lowering level of lawns , and b:v removing 
ori~inal (?) wing and substitution: 3 story stucco wing on east side , 42 
24 with gable roof and off center chim.ney;i masonry terrace on south :fr ont; 
west sunporch, 3 stories , 22 x 15; 2 story 10 x 7 porch on nor1h front. 

II. COUNSELING CENTER. Condition: good Integrity: unaltered 

2 story fieldstone dwelling, f r ont section 37 x 28, with gable roof and 
side brick chiJ{maey-s. (16 x 8 porch apparently 20th cent. addition) . 
Rear section origipnally separate quarters. 2 stories , 25 x 24 with 
6 :x 25 wood porch and brick chimney. Probably one of 11 two ot er houses 
built of s tone" mentioned in 1J25. 

III. TUDOll HOUS.t: - BOWLING ALU."Y COHPIBX 

This field stone comples was built c . 1850, and may have beon designed by 
Robert Cary Long, J r. 

A. "TUDOR HOUSE". Condition: good Integrity: altered 

2 story filed sto e cottage , 23 x 42, with gambrel r oof. (Former ly one 
story cottage with hip roor) . 

connected by stone wal1 to north with: 

B. COTrAGE RUINS. Condition: ruined lntegri ty: ? 

stone r emains of one storv cotta~e with basement, 20 x 33 with 18 x 12 
north wing. (Formerly had hip roof and 2 dormers) . 

connected by stone wall on east (at right an les) with: 

C. BOWLLt.JG A.LLl,~ . Ccndi tion: ruined (was intact to May 5 , 1971) . 
Integrity : Unaltered 

one story filed stone bowling alley, with shed r oof, 100 x 10. Banked on 
north side , 1ti th diamond leaded glass windows on somth side. 

Connected with stone wall ( continuation or north wall) to stone arch 
and stone wall with vent openings ( pnrt of stone bard which burned in 
1898???) 
& conn cted at right angles to the north west , via boxwood corrador to: 

D. COITAGE. Conditi on: excellent Inte&rity: unaltered. 

1 story stone cottage, aa x 29 with hipoed roof . 
, 

and designed by Edward L. Plamer , Jr. 
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... ,.100 (Clteca One or,,_ •e ~•le) 

Pre.Colu111blan 0 161h Centwy 0 
15th Century 0 17th C.-y 0 

SPIECll'IC DATIEISI (11 Applfc ... e 8ftd «-nJ 

A"IEAS 01' SIGNlf'ICANCI!: (Cit-Ir One or llore •e """'°""'.,e) 

Abot'91nol Educotion 0 
Prehlatoric 0 Engln-rlng D 
Hlltorlc 0 lnduatry 0 

Agriculture D Invention 0 
Art 0 Londscope 

c--•ce 0 Archl tee ture Ii! 
Co111111Unlcotlona 0 Lltoroturo 0 
Conurvotlon 0 Milltory 0 
Archl .. ctun il Music 0 

11th CentU1y g) 

19th Century g) 

Polltlcol !if1 
Rellglon/Phl· 

loeophy D 
Science 0 
Sculpture 0 
Sociol/Hu1110n• 

llorlon 0 
Theotor D 
T ronaportotlon D 

STATEMENT 01' SIGNIFICANCE (Include Pereorte•••• Deloe, Bvonle, Btc.) 

SEE ATTACHED DATA 

31th Century 0 

Urbcan Planning D 
Other (Speclt,.) 0 
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9. MAJOR 818l10GRAPHICAL REFERENCES 

1-arldson, Ed. H.' "Glenn's Hil ton, 11 Maryland Historical Magazine, Full, 1970 ~ 

Glenn Collection, Maryland Historical Society, MS, 1017 
Buchanan Collection, Maryland Historical Socio cy, MS 1220 
Perine Collection, Maryland Historical Soc:ie ty, MS 645 

Baltimore County Tax Assessment Ledgers, Hall of Records, Anna pol.is 

Balt:ilnore P.rterican, Hay 24, 1825 

10. GEOGRAPHICAL DATA . , 
L,._TITIJOE A.NO LONGITUDE COORDINATES 0 

LATITUDE ANO LONGITUDE COOROIN.t.TES 

DEFINING,._ RECT.t.NGL.E LOCATING THE PROPERTY OE FINING THE CENTER POINT OF" A PROPERTY 

R OF LESS THAN ONE ACRE 

CORNER LATITUDE LONGJTUOE L.t.TITUOE LONG TUOE 

Degrees Minutes Seconds Degrees Minutes Seconds Deg•ees Minutes S.conds Degrees Minutes Second1 

NW 0 . . 0 . . 0 . . 0 . . 
NE 0 . . 0 . . 
SE 0 . . 0 . . 
SW 0 . . 0 . . 

LIST ALL STATES ANO COUNTIES FOR PROPERTIES OVERLAPPING STATE OR COUNTY BOUNDARIES 

STATE: CODE COUNTY CODE 

STATE: CODE COUNTY; CODE 

STATE: CODE COUNTVt COOE 

STATE: CODE COUNTY: CODE 

tll. FORM PREPARED &Y 
,., <· .•. 

>:· 

NAME ANO TITLE: 

Bayly E. I Prks , Instructor, & R. c. Morrison, Associate l'rof'essor 
ORGANIZATION 

Catonsville Col'JI'lunity College 
[O.t.TE 
Hay, 1971 

STREET ANO NUMBER: 

800 South .Rolling Road 
CITY OR TOWN!. 

Ca tonsv11 te, Maryland ST\TE aryland 
CODE 

12. STATE LIAISON OFFICER CERT1FtC""{lo,f ·' ' NATIONAL REGISTE~ V£RtFlCATtON 

As the designated State Liaison Officer for the Na-

tional Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 
I herebv cerUCy that this property ls included ln the 

89-66S). l hereby nominate this property for inclusion National Register. 

in the National Register and certify that it has been 

evaluated accord.mg to the criteria and proce~res set 

forth by the National Park Service. The recommended 
Chief, Olfice o( Arc:heotoay snd Historic Preservation 

level of significance of this nomrnation is: 

National 0 State D Local 0 

Date 

Name 
ATTEST: 

Title 

Keeper of The National Registe1 

Date Date 
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1. 5TATE 

COUNTY 

Maryland 
Baltimore 

TOWN v1c1N1TY Dist. 1 
srnEET No. Rolling Road 

ORIGINA- OWNER 

ORIGINAL USE 

PRESENT OWN ER 

PRESENT USE 

WALL CONSTRUCTION 

NO. OF STORIES 

HISTORIC AMERICAN BUILD! NGS SURVEY 

INVENTORY BA-5 

2. NAME Hilton 

DATE OR PERIOD early 1800's 
STY LE 

ARCHITECT 

BUILDER 

3. FOR LIBRARY OF CONGRESS USE 

4. NOTABLE FEATURES, HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE AND DESCRIPTION OPEN TO PUBLIC 

A 5,000 acre land grant to Thomas Taylor in 1679 -

known as Taylor's Forest. Original house built by 

Col. Edward Dorsey; also owned by Wm. c. Glen; 

in 1917 purchased by George Knapp and rebuilt. Now 

about 300 acres, and is the location of The Catonsville 

Community College. 

5. PHYSICAL CONDITION OF 5TPUCTURE Endangered 

~ 6. LOCATION MAP (Plan Optional) 

3. PUBLISHED SOURCES (Author, Title, Pages) 

INTERVIEWS, RECORDS, PHOTOS, ETC. 

Interior Exterior 

7. PHOTOGRAPH 

9. NAME, ADDRESS AND TITLE C)F RECORDER 

(First HABS Report) 
E. Frances Offutt 
HABS COMMITTEE BALTIMORE COUNTY 
HISTORICAL SOCIETY 

DA TE OF RECORD July 29' 1965 
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